
 

1 

MINUTES OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 18, 2009 

                              

              

PRESENT: Walter L. Alcorn, Commissioner At-Large 

 Frank A. de la Fe, Hunter Mill District 

 Jay P. Donahue, Dranesville District 

 Earl L. Flanagan, Mount Vernon District 

 Janet R. Hall, Mason District 

 James R. Hart, Commissioner At-Large 

 Kenneth A. Lawrence, Providence District 

 John L. Litzenberger, Jr., Sully District  

 Rodney L. Lusk, Lee District 

 Peter F. Murphy, Jr., Springfield District 

Timothy J. Sargeant, Commissioner At-Large 

  

ABSENT: Suzanne F. Harsel, Braddock District  

   

// 

 

The meeting was called to order at 8:28 p.m. by Chairman Peter F. Murphy, Jr., in the Board 

Auditorium of the Fairfax County Government Center at 12000 Government Center Parkway, 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035. 

 

// 

 

COMMISSION MATTERS 

 

Commissioner Alcorn announced that the Planning Commission's Tysons Corner Committee 

would meet on Thursday, March 19, 2009, at 7:00 p.m., in Conference Rooms 4 and 5 at the 

Fairfax County Government Center, to receive a briefing from George Barker, Chairman of the 

Tysons Land Use Task Force Draft Review Committee, on the status of their review of the 

proposed draft "strawman" Plan text for the Tysons Corner Urban Center.  He noted that the 

Committee would also receive a staff presentation on green buildings and discuss water 

conservation, the Plan Introduction and Vision, and the Committee schedule.   

 

// 

 

Commissioner Lusk MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION DEFER THE 

DECISION ONLY FOR PCA 1998-LE-064 AND RZ 2008-LE-015, SPRINGFIELD PARCEL 

C, LLC, TO A DATE CERTAIN OF MARCH 26, 2009, WITH THE RECORD TO REMAIN 

OPEN FOR WRITTEN AND ELECTRONIC CORRESPONDENCE. 

 

Commissioner Lawrence seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 



 

2 

COMMISSION MATTERS                                                                                     March 18, 2009 

 

 

Chairman Murphy MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION DEFER THE PUBLIC 

HEARING ON 2232-S08-23, NEXTEL COMMUNICATIONS, TO A DATE CERTAIN OF 

APRIL 30, 2009. 

 

Commissioner Alcorn seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 

 

Commissioner Hall announced that the Planning Commission's Policy and Procedures 

Committee would meet on Wednesday, March 25, 2009, at 7:00 p.m., in the Board Conference 

Room. 

 

// 

 

Chairman Murphy noted that there would be no Planning Commission meeting on Thursday, 

March 19, 2009. 

 

// 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES CODE 

AMENDMENTS (FEES FOR LAND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES) (The decision on this item 

was held on March 12, 2009.  A complete verbatim transcript of the decision made is in the date 

file.) 

 

Commissioner Alcorn clarified an earlier motion and MOVED THAT THE PLANNING 

COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ADOPTION OF THE 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTERS 261, 101, 104, AND 112 OF THE CODE OF 

COUNTY OF FAIRFAX, VIRGINIA, REGARDING ADJUSTMENT TO THE FEES 

CHARGED FOR PLAN REVIEW AND INSPECTION AND PERMIT SERVICES CHARGED 

BY THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, 

LAND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES, AS ADVERTISED AND SET FORTH IN THE STAFF 

REPORT DATED FEBRUARY 9, 2009, WITH THE ADDITION OF STAFF'S 

RECOMMENDED CHANGES TO PROPOSED SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE 

AMENDMENT SECTION 101-2-9, FEES, PARAGRAPH (A)(3), AND PROPOSED ZONING 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENT SECTION 17-109, FEES, PARAGRAPH 7, DATED MARCH 

12, 2009.   

 

Without objection, the motion carried unanimously with Commissioner Harsel absent from the 

meeting. 

 

// 

 

 

 



 

3 

COMMISSION MATTERS                                                                                     March 18, 2009 

 

 

ST06-III-UP2 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT (Lake Anne Village Center)  

(Decision Only)  (The public hearing on this item was held on March 11, 2009.  A complete 

verbatim transcript of the decision made is in the date file.)  

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

AMENDMENT ST06-III-UP2, AS SHOWN ON PAGES 2 THROUGH 16 OF THE 

HANDOUT ENTITLED "PROPOSED CHANGES TO LAKE ANNE PLAN TEXT," DATED 

MARCH 18, 2009.   

 

Commissioners Alcorn, Lawrence, Hart, and Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried by 

a vote of 10-0-1 with Commissioner Hall abstaining; Commissioner Harsel absent from the 

meeting. 

 

// 

 

FS-P08-97 – CRICKET COMMUNICATIONS, 9302 Lee Highway 

 

Commissioner Lawrence MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION CONCUR WITH 

THE STAFF DETERMINATION THAT THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY CO-

LOCATION PROPOSED BY CRICKET COMMUNICATIONS, AND LOCATED AT 9302 

LEE HIGHWAY, IS SUBSTANTIALLY IN ACCORD WITH THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

OF THE ADOPTED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AND SHOULD BE CONSIDERED A 

"FEATURE SHOWN" PURSUANT TO VIRGINIA CODE SECTION 15.2-2232, AS 

AMENDED. 

 

Commissioner Alcorn seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 

 

FSA-P01-24-1 – VERIZON, 3050 Chain Bridge Road 

 

Commissioner Lawrence MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION CONCUR WITH 

THE STAFF DETERMINATION THAT THE MODIFICATIONS PROPOSED BY VERIZON 

TO A PREVIOUSLY-APPROVED TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY, LOCATED AT 

3050 CHAIN BRIDGE ROAD, IS SUBSTANTIALLY IN ACCORD WITH 

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE ADOPTED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AND SHOULD BE 

CONSIDERED A "FEATURE SHOWN" PURSUANT TO VIRGINIA CODE SECTION 15.2-

2232, AS AMENDED. 

 

Commissioner Sargeant seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 



 

4 

ORDER OF THE AGENDA                                                                                    March 18, 2009 

 

 

ORDER OF THE AGENDA 

 

In the absence of Secretary Harsel, Chairman Murphy established the following order of the 

agenda: 

 

1. SE 2007-MA-034 – TD BANK, N.A. 

2. RZ 2008-HM-016/FDP 2008-HM-016 – THI IV DULLES AIRPORT LLC 

PCA 86-C-029-11– THI IV DULLES AIRPORT LLC 

3. PCA 80-L-004 – LOISDALE ROAD, LLC 

4. SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY 

 

This order was accepted without objection. 

 

// 

 

SE 2007-MA-034 – TD BANK, N.A. – Appl. under Sects. 7-607 and 

9-622 of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a drive-in financial institution 

in a Highway Corridor Overlay District and modifications and waivers 

in the CRD.  Located at 7209 Little River Tnpk. on approx. 28,083 sq. 

ft. of land zoned C-8, HC, CRD, and SC.  Tax Map 71-1 ((1)) 89.  

MASON DISTRICT.  PUBLIC HEARING.   

 

Fred Taylor, Esquire, with Bean, Kinney & Korman, PC, reaffirmed the affidavit dated February 

11, 2009.  Commissioner Hart disclosed that his law firm, Hart & Horan, PC, had one pending 

case where M. J. Wells & Associates, LLC, a traffic engineering firm listed on the affidavit, was 

a non-party recipient of a subpoena for documents, but indicated that there was no financial 

relationship and it would not affect his ability to participate in this case. 

 

Kristen Abrahamson, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning, 

presented the staff report, a copy of which is in the date file.  She noted that staff recommended 

denial of the application because it was not in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan and the 

applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Ms. Abrahamson replied to questions from Commissioner Lawrence regarding access to the 

subject property, the potential median at the Backlick Road entrance, interparcel access, and 

traffic points of conflict.  She said an addendum to the staff report containing a revised plat 

would be provided.  

 

Commissioner Hall noted that the Mason District Land Use Committee was scheduled to review 

this application again.  She said that although the Annandale Revitalization Committee supported 

the application because it would improve the appearance of the property, she expressed concerns 

about the traffic, circulation, and location problems which she hoped would be addressed before 

a recommendation was made.   

 

 



 

5 

SE 2007-MA-034 – TD BANK, N.A.                                                                      March 18, 2009 

 

 

Commissioner Hall commented that she did not understand why the Virginia Department of 

Transportation (VDOT) was opposed to a median at the Backlick Road entrance because she 

believed that this would help mitigate traffic hazards in the area.  

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Sargeant, Ms. Abrahamson said she would provide 

existing traffic counts and trip generation rates at the Little River Turnpike and Backlick Road 

intersection. 

 

Mr. Taylor identified the location of and access to the property, described the layout and 

amenities of the development, and reviewed the proposed transportation improvements.  He said 

the proposed bank would generate one-fifth of the trips typically generated by an automobile-

oriented use.  Mr. Taylor explained that VDOT was agreeable in concept to a license that would 

allow the applicant to plant landscaping on VDOT-owned land but had requested to review the 

site plan before making a final decision.  He noted that the proposal was supported by the 

Annandale business community and the Mason District Land Use Committee. 

 

Commissioner Hart expressed concerns about the traffic conflicts and circulation problems 

surrounding the property.  He then suggested that the applicant eliminate the right-in/right-out 

lanes and coordinate with the adjacent property owner for interparcel access to Backlick Road.  

Mr. Taylor said the applicant would consider this option. 

 

Commissioner Hall said she was frustrated by the lack of cooperation by the applicant to address 

her and staff's concerns.  She expressed appreciation to the Annandale Revitalization Committee 

for its work in this case, but said she would recommend denial unless the applicant resolved the 

transportation problems.   

 

Chairman Murphy called for speakers but received no response; therefore, he noted that a 

rebuttal statement was not necessary.  There were no further comments or questions from the 

Commission and staff had no closing remarks; therefore, he closed the public hearing and 

recognized Commissioner Hall for action on this case.  (A verbatim excerpt is in the date file.) 

 

// 

 

Commissioner Hall MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION DEFER THE 

DECISION ONLY FOR SE 2007-MA-034 UNTIL A DATE CERTAIN OF MARCH 25, 2009, 

WITH THE RECORD TO REMAIN OPEN FOR WRITTEN COMMENT.   

 

Commissioner Alcorn seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 

 

RZ 2008-HM-016/FDP 2008-HM-016 – THI IV DULLES AIRPORT 

LLC – Appls. to rezone from PCD and AN to PDC and AN to permit 

hotel development with an overall Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 0.89 and  



 

6 

RZ 2008-HM-016/FDP 2008-HM-016 and PCA 86-C-029-11–                             March 18, 2009 

THI IV DULLES AIRPORT LLC 

 

 

approval of the conceptual and final development plans.  Located on 

the W. side of Sunrise Valley Dr. and on the N. side of Dulles Corner 

Dr. on approx. 6.38 ac. of land.  Comp. Plan Rec: Mixed Use at 0.5 

FAR to 1.0 FAR.  Tax Map 15-2 ((2)) 1.  (Concurrent with PCA 86-C-

029-11.)  HUNTER MILL DISTRICT.   

 

PCA 86-C-029-11– THI IV DULLES AIRPORT LLC – Appls. to 

amend the proffers, conceptual, and final development plans for RZ 

86-C-029 previously approved for commercial development to delete 

land area in order to include it in RZ/FDP 2008-HM-016 and to permit 

associated modifications to proffers and site design with an overall 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 0.89 on the subject property.  (The overall 

FAR of RZ 86-C-029 will decrease from 0.72 to 0.71.)  Located on the 

W. side of Sunrise Valley Dr. and on the N. side of Dulles Corner Dr. 

on approx. 6.38 ac. of land zoned PDC and AN.  Comp. Plan Rec: 

Mixed Use at 0.50 FAR to 1.0 FAR.  Tax Map 15-2 ((2)) 1.  

(Concurrent with RZ 2008-HM-016 and FDP 2008-HM-016.)  

HUNTER MILL DISTRICT.  JOINT PUBLIC HEARING.   

 

Elizabeth McKeeby, land use planner with Walsh, Colucci, Lubeley, Emrich & Walsh, PC, 

reaffirmed the affidavit dated February 10, 2009.  Commissioner Hart disclosed that his law 

firm, Hart & Horan, PC, had two pending cases with Ms. McKeeby's law firm.  He further 

disclosed that Hart & Horan, PC, had one pending case where M. J. Wells & Associates, LLC, a 

traffic engineering firm listed on the affidavit, was a non-party recipient of a subpoena for 

documents.  Commissioner Hart indicated that there was no financial relationship and it would 

not affect his ability to participate in this case. 

 

William O'Donnell, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning, noted that 

FDPA 86-C-029-08 was no longer part of this proposal. 

 

Commissioner de la Fe asked that Chairman Murphy ascertain whether there were any speakers 

for these applications.  There being none, he asked that presentations by staff and the applicant 

be waived and the public hearing closed.  No objections were expressed; therefore, Chairman 

Murphy closed the public hearing and recognized Commissioner de la Fe for action on this case.  

(A verbatim excerpt is in the date file.) 

 

// 

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF PCA 86-C-029-11. 

 

Commissioner Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 



 

7 

RZ 2008-HM-016/FDP 2008-HM-016 and PCA 86-C-029-11–                             March 18, 2009 

THI IV DULLES AIRPORT LLC 

 

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF RZ 2008-HM-016, SUBJECT TO THE 

EXECUTION OF PROFFERS CONSISTENT WITH THOSE DATED MARCH 5, 2009. 

 

Commissioner Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVE  

FDP 2008-HM-016, SUBJECT TO THE DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS DATED MARCH 4, 

2009, AND SUBJECT ALSO TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS' APPROVAL OF PCA 86-

C-029-11. 

 

Commissioner Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF A MODIFICATION OF THE LOADING 

SPACE REQUIREMENT, IN FAVOR OF THE LOADING SPACES DEPICTED ON THE 

CDP/FDP. 

 

Commissioner Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF A MODIFICATION OF PFM 

STANDARD 12-0702.1B2, TO PERMIT REDUCTION OF THE MINIMUM PLANTING 

WIDTH REQUIREMENT FROM EIGHT FEET TO SIX FEET, AS SHOWN ON THE 

CDP/FDP AND DESCRIBED IN THE PROFFERS 

 

Commissioner Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

Commissioner de la Fe MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF A MODIFICATION OF THE 

PERIPHERAL PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS, IN FAVOR OF THE 

LANDSCAPING SHOWN ON THE CDP/FDP. 

 

Commissioner Litzenberger seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 

 

PCA 80-L-004 – LOISDALE ROAD, LLC – Appl. to amend RZ 80-

L-004 previously approved for commercial development to amend the  



 

8 

PCA 80-L-004 – LOISDALE ROAD, LLC                                                             March 18, 2009 

 

 

proffers and to permit associated modifications to site design to permit 

a single office building with an overall Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 

0.50.  Located on the E. side of Henry G. Shirley Memorial Hwy (I-

95), S. of Loisdale Park and on the W. side of the Richmond 

Fredericksburg Railway on approx. 2.73 ac. of land zoned C-2.  Comp. 

Plan Rec: Public Parks.  Tax Map 90-4 ((1)) 3.  LEE DISTRICT.  

PUBLIC HEARING.   

 

Brian Winterhalter, Esquire, with Cooley Godward Kronish LLP, reaffirmed the affidavit dated 

January 13, 2009.  Commissioner Hart disclosed that his law firm, Hart & Horan, PC, had one 

pending case where M. J. Wells & Associates, LLC, a traffic engineering firm listed on the 

affidavit, was a non-party recipient of a subpoena for documents.  He further disclosed that Mr. 

Winterhalter's law firm represented one of the parties in that case.  Commissioner Hart indicated 

that there was no financial relationship and it would not affect his ability to participate in this 

case. 

 

Commissioner Lusk asked that Chairman Murphy ascertain whether there were any speakers for 

this application.  There being none, he asked that presentations by staff and the applicant be 

waived and the public hearing closed.  No objections were expressed; therefore, Chairman 

Murphy closed the public hearing and recognized Commissioner Lusk for action on this case.  (A 

verbatim excerpt is in the date file.) 

 

// 

 

Commissioner Lusk MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF PCA 80-L-004, SUBJECT TO THE 

EXECUTION OF PROFFERS CONSISTENT WITH THOSE DATED MARCH 6, 2009. 

 

Commissioner Flanagan seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

Commissioner Lusk MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS APPROVAL OF A MODIFICATION OF THE LOADING 

SPACE REQUIREMENT, TO PERMIT ONE LOADING SPACE INSTEAD OF FOUR. 

 

Commissioner Flanagan seconded the motion which carried unanimously with Commissioner 

Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 

 

The Commission went into recess at 9:23 p.m. and reconvened in the Board Auditorium at 9:34 

p.m. 
 
// 

 

 



 

9 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

The next case was in the Springfield District; therefore, Chairman Murphy relinquished the Chair 

to Vice Chairman Alcorn. 

 

// 

 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY – Appl. under Sect. 

3-C04 of the Zoning Ordinance to permit building additions and 

associated modifications to site design and development conditions to 

an existing private school of general education.  Located at 11101, 

11115, 11121, 11123 Popes Head Rd. on approx. 34.05 ac. of land 

zoned R-C and WS.  Tax Map 68-3 ((1)) 61, 62, 63, and 64.  

SPRINGFIELD DISTRICT.  PUBLIC HEARING.   

 

Lynne Strobel, Esquire, with Walsh, Colucci, Lubeley, Emrich & Walsh, PC, reaffirmed the 

affidavit dated February 10, 2009.  Commissioner Hart disclosed that his law firm, Hart & 

Horan, PC, had two pending cases with Ms. Strobel's law firm.  He further disclosed that Hart & 

Horan, PC, had one pending case where M. J. Wells & Associates, LLC, a traffic engineering 

firm listed on the affidavit, was a non-party recipient of a subpoena for documents.  

Commissioner Hart indicated that there was no financial relationship and it would not affect his 

ability to participate in this case 

 

Tracy Strunk, Zoning Evaluation Division (ZED), Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ), 

presented the staff report, a copy of which is in the date file.  She noted that staff recommended 

approval of the application. 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Flanagan, Ms. Strunk explained that the 

application satisfied the Comprehensive Plan recommendation that access for this use be oriented 

to an arterial road and the Zoning Ordinance provision that private schools of general education 

of between 75 and 660 students be located on a collector road. 

 

Commissioner Lawrence recommended that the applicant consider drafting a Transportation 

Demand Management plan for the school staff. 

 

Replying to a question from Commissioner Hart, Ms. Strunk said the applicant's stormwater 

management plan indicated that a 65 percent reduction in phosphorus would be achieved, which 

exceeded the requirement. 

 

Ms. Strobel stated that the applicant had been operating a school on the subject property for 25 

years, with no complaints to the County.  She explained that the applicant sought to consolidate 

its campus on Richmond Highway in Alexandria with this site and reduce the total enrollment to 

500 students.  She reviewed the background, mission, activities, and values of the school, as 

contained in a school booklet, a copy of which is in the date file.  Ms. Strobel noted that the floor 

area ratio would be below the maximum permitted in the Residential-Conservation (R-C) 

District.  She described the design, layout, and setbacks of the development.  She also pointed 

out the proposed recreational fields and open space planned for preservation.  Ms. Strobel  



 

10 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

reviewed the proposed transportation, sewage disposal, stormwater management, and 

environmental improvements.  She read an e-mail from David Schnare, Chairman of the 

Occoquan Watershed Coalition's Environment and Land Use Committee, dated March 18, 2009, 

in support of the proposed environmental improvements.  (A copy of the e-mail is in the date 

file.)  She noted that the applicant had met with the community to address their concerns.  Ms. 

Strobel said that the applicant did not object to the changes made to the development conditions 

now dated March 17, 2009, a copy of which is in the date file.  She asked members of the 

audience who were in support of the application to stand and be recognized. 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Murphy, Ms. Strunk noted that a maximum of 605 

students were permitted on the site by-right. 

 

Replying to a question from Commissioner Murphy, Ms. Strobel pointed out that no students 

attended this campus currently because they had been transferred to the Alexandria campus in 

anticipation of construction on this site.  She said that only 300 students could occupy the 

existing buildings. 

 

In response to a question from Vice Chairman Alcorn, Ms. Strobel said she did not believe that 

the school had ever operated at the full capacity of 605 students.  Kristen Abrahamson, ZED, 

DPZ, concurred. 

 

Responding to a question from Commissioner Murphy, Ms. Strobel explained that if this 

application was not approved, the applicant would make minor building renovations to 

accommodate 300 students and continue operations at both campuses. 

 

In reply to a question from Commissioner Flanagan, Ms. Strobel said the options available to the 

applicant were to move activities at the Alexandria campus to another location, reduce the 

student enrollment, or continue operating at the Alexandria campus. 

 

Responding to another question from Commissioner Flanagan, Rahima Abdullah, head of the 

Education Department, noted that the Alexandria campus currently had an enrollment of 

approximately 750 students. 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Lawrence, Ms. Strobel stated that Development 

Condition Number 16 required that a minimum of 10 buses, with a seating capacity of at least 41 

students each, serve the school.  She said the applicant would maintain a bus program for its 

students that would minimize impacts on traffic and that the buses would be able to safely use 

Popes Head Road.   

 

Commissioner Lawrence asked if the applicant would discuss with staff the possibility of adding 

a development condition that addressed the use of natural rather than chemical methods in the 

maintenance of the recreational fields.  Ms. Strobel said the applicant would consider this option. 

 

Commissioner Sargeant requested that Ms. Strobel provide the Commission a copy of the e-mail 

from Mr. Schnare.  Ms. Strobel agreed to provide it. 



 

11 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

Replying to a question from Commissioner Sargeant, Ms. Strobel reviewed the revisions to 

Development Condition Number 9 regarding the limitations on the number and duration of 

school-related activities. 

 

Commissioner Sargeant suggested that Condition Number 13 be revised to indicate that the 

community liaison would be responsible for informing the surrounding residents about events 

that would occur outside of school hours.  Ms. Strobel agreed with this suggestion. 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Hart, Ms. Strobel noted that Development 

Condition Number 24 required that a minimum of 50 percent of the site be maintained as 

undisturbed open space.  She said that the applicant had never received any zoning violations on 

the site.  Ms. Strunk concurred. 

 

Vice Chairman Alcorn called the first listed speaker and recited the rules for public testimony. 

 

James Lafferty, 4100 David Lane, Alexandria, spoke in opposition to the application.  His main 

concern was the curriculum taught at the school.  

 

Will Nance, 11816 Decour Court, Fairfax, strongly objected to the proposed school expansion 

due to traffic and safety concerns.  He noted that attached to his written testimony was a letter 

from John Daly, Division Director of the Commonwealth Department of Conservation and 

Recreation, dated January 21, 2009, which stated that any increase in traffic volume on Popes 

Head Road would cause additional safety issues.  Mr. Nance also noted that Popes Head Road 

had recently been declared a Virginia Byway and its historical nature should be preserved.  

(Copies of Mr. Nance's remarks and Mr. Daly's letter are in the date file.) 

 

Replying to a question from Commissioner de la Fe, Mr. Nance said the Governor of Virginia 

had signed HB2477 into law to designate Popes Head Road a Virginia Byway. 

 

John Marino, 5224 Lewisham Road, Fairfax, President of the Ridges of Glendilough Community 

Council, expressed opposition to the proposal because it would cause a detrimental impact on 

traffic, the environment, and quality of life.  He read an excerpt from an e-mail to Springfield 

District Supervisor Pat Herrity from Glendilough resident Pam McKenzie, 5300 Lewisham 

Road, Fairfax, dated March 12, 2009, expressing her concern that additional traffic resulting 

from the school expansion would cause more traffic accidents on Popes Head Road.  Mr. Marino 

said that any land use along Popes Head Road must continue to reflect and support the low 

density residential character of this historic byway and not compromise the safety of the 

commuters.  He pointed out that the applicant had failed to adequately address how the proposal 

would accommodate the currently enrolled students, the issue of teenage students driving during 

afterschool events, and additional pick-ups and drop-offs of students who missed the bus.  

(Copies of Mr. Marino's remarks and Ms. McKenzie's e-mail are in the date file.) 

 

Commissioner Hall commented that although the school had been closed over the past year, it 

did not appear that the amount of traffic on Popes Head Road had been reduced as a result.   

 



 

12 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Sargeant, Chuck Almquist, Fairfax County 

Department of Transportation (FCDOT), noted that although Popes Head Road was a designated 

Virginia Byway, this did not preclude transportation improvements proposed by the applicant.  

He said he would further research the specific guidelines associated with this designation and 

provide his findings to the Planning Commission. 

 

Commissioner de la Fe pointed out that Langley High School was located on Georgetown Pike, 

which was also a Virginia Byway. 

 

Commissioner Hart noted that Pleasant Valley Road was also a Virginia Byway located within 

the R-C District.  He commented that based on his experience with previous cases, a Virginia 

Byway designation did not preclude transportation-related development conditions nor was the 

designation inconsistent with nonresidential uses that the Zoning Ordinance would otherwise 

require.  Commissioner Sargeant concurred, but said that it would be helpful to include more 

information in the record about the designation. 

 

Commissioner Flanagan pointed out that the applicant had worked with the Mount Zephyr 

community, located adjacent to the Alexandria campus, to mitigate traffic and prevent backups 

by allowing only one bus to arrive at the school at any one time. 

 

Dr. Sherry Keramidas, 5500 Beech Ridge Drive, Fairfax, President of the Beech Ridge Civic 

Association, spoke in opposition to the proposal due to concerns about the density, parking, 

hours of operation, noise, number of students, athletic activities, loss of open space, traffic, 

safety, and stormwater management.  She said the application had not been rigorously reviewed 

and the development would have an adverse impact on the environment and the quality of life of 

the surrounding residents.  Dr. Keramidas explained that an existing soccer field had caused the 

pollution of a nearby stream and that the septic field had not been approved by the Health 

Department.  She indicated that the Commission had received a petition signed by 248 residents 

of the surrounding community who opposed the school expansion.  (Copies of Dr. Keramidas' 

remarks and the petition are in the date file.) 

 

Replying to a question from Commissioner Hall, Ms. Keramidas said she and other residents had 

reported the environmental impacts caused by the soccer field to the County, but no action had 

been taken.  Commissioner Hall requested that staff investigate this issue. 

 

In response to another question from Commissioner Hall, Ms. Abrahamson explained that if the 

application was not approved, the applicant could seek an interpretation to permit trailers to 

accommodate the additional number of students up to the maximum currently allowed, but she 

did not believe that this would be feasible. 

 

Commissioner Flanagan pointed out to Dr. Keramidas that the Commission had received a letter 

from Dan Fisher-Burrier, a member of the Mount Zephyr Citizens Association, which stated that 

the outside school activities had not posed any problems to the community surrounding the 

Alexandria campus.  (A copy of the letter is in the date file.)  Dr. Keramidas replied that the  

 



 

13 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

excessive noise from the soccer field was not compatible with the low density, wooded, and 

quiet character of her community.   

 

Michael F. McNeill, 11406 Octagon Court, Fairfax, noted that he had distributed a document that 

incorporated input from neighborhood residents analyzing the staff report.  He said he was 

opposed to the application because the staff report failed to provide scientific or technical 

evidence to support the staff recommendation for approval, due diligence had not been applied to 

the review, the true identity of the applicant was unknown, traffic on Popes Head Road would 

become more hazardous, and stormwater runoff would increase from the school's septic 

operation.  (A copy of the document is in the date file.) 

 

Commissioner Lusk pointed out to Mr. McNeill that the County's Health Department would 

address any problems associated with the school's septic system. 

 

Hazel Rathbun, 11308 Popes Head Road, Fairfax, expressed opposition to the proposed school 

expansion because it would result in more accidents and potential fatalities on Popes Head Road 

due to increased traffic, especially by teenage drivers.  (A copy of her remarks is in the date file.) 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Litzenberger, Ms. Rathbun said the residents had 

attempted to obtain safety improvements on Popes Head Road to no avail. 

 

Malak Abou-Hargah, 3424 Jermantown Road, Fairfax, spoke in support of the proposal because 

it would be able to accommodate school traffic and mitigate safety and noise concerns. 

 

Denise Lee, 14890 Emberdale Drive, Woodbridge, a member of the Northern Virginia/ 

Washington, DC Metro Chapter of ACT! For America, expressed opposition to the proposal 

because it would cause an increase in traffic and adversely affect the surrounding septic systems.  

(A copy of her remarks is in the date file.) 

 

Replying to a question from Commissioner Sargeant, Ms. Strunk noted that Development 

Condition Number 17 stated that subject to Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) 

approval, the applicant must install two flashing school zone speed limit signs on Popes Head 

Road.  She said she would verify the distance of the school zone. 

 

// 

 

The Commission went into recess at 11:25 p.m. and reconvened in the Board Auditorium at 

11:41 p.m. 

 

// 

 

Andrea Lafferty, 4100 David Lane, Alexandria, representing the Traditional Values Coalition, 

spoke in opposition to the proposed school expansion.  Her main concern was the curriculum 

taught at the school.  

 



 

14 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

Ms. Lafferty answered questions from Commissioner Murphy about a flyer that was distributed 

by the Traditional Values Coalition.  (A copy of the flyer is in the date file.) 

 

Carol Marino, 5224 Lewisham Road, Fairfax, explained that the proposal would significantly 

increase traffic and cause extremely dangerous traffic conditions on Popes Head Road. 

 

Jeffrey Imm, founder of Responsible for Equality and Liberty, said he was opposed to the 

application due to public welfare concerns.  (A copy of his remarks is in the date file.) 

 

Christine Brim, Senior Vice President of Center for Security Policy, 1901 Pennsylvania Avenue, 

NW, Suite 201, Washington, DC, noted that she had distributed a packet of documents regarding 

the properties owned by the applicant.  She expressed concerns about the management and 

operation of the school.  (A copy of the packet is in the date file.) 

 

Carl Beveridge, 5403 Dranes Tavern Drive, Fairfax, pointed out that he had not been contacted 

by the County or the applicant about the application.  He spoke in opposition to the proposal 

because it would have adverse impacts on the character of the neighborhood, property values, 

water quality, and traffic.  He recommended that the County appoint an independent traffic 

consultant, to be paid for by the applicant, to fully address existing and projected traffic to 

determine if Popes Head Road would be able to safely accommodate the increase in traffic.  (A 

copy of his remarks is in the date file.) 

 

Faith McDonnell, 8312 Tobin Road, Unit 14, Annandale, indicated her opposition to the 

proposed school expansion due to environmental concerns.  She also expressed concern about 

the textbooks used at the school.  (A copy of her remarks is in the date file.) 

 

Abdul Rahman, 8477 Hallie Rose Street, Alexandria, spoke in favor of the application.  He 

suggested that the County address the safety issues on Popes Head Road. 

 

Mr. Rahman replied to a question about how his children would travel to the school.  

Commissioner Donahue commented that he wanted to be assured that the majority of the 

students would travel to the school by bus. 

 

Razan Fayez said she supported the proposed school expansion because it would address the 

traffic issues.  She also noted that the issue of teenage drivers would be minimal since the size of 

the high school level classes would be small.  

 

Angela Jrab, 727 Beulah Street, Alexandria, expressed support for the proposal because it would 

address the traffic backup on Popes Head Road.  She explained that 100 of the students would 

arrive with their parents who were school staff members and most of the other 400 students 

would arrive by bus. 

 

Commissioner Murphy requested that Ms. Jrab provide to the Commission the procedures for the 

school bus service to help staff in drafting additional development conditions to address this 

issue.  Ms. Jrab agreed with this request. 



 

15 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

In response to a question from Commissioner Flanagan, Ms. Jrab said the school had decided 

against staggering the arrival and dismissal times because it would double the amount of bus 

trips in the morning and afternoon. 

 

Responding to another question from Commissioner Flanagan, Ms. Strunk explained that 

Development Condition Number 19 served as a trigger to re-examine the transportation 

improvements when enrollment reached 425 students, but not to end the enrollment at that 

amount.  Ms. Jrab pointed out that even at the maximum enrollment of 500 students no more 

than 12 buses would serve the school. 

 

In reply to a question from Commissioner Donahue, Ms. Jrab said the school had estimated that 

90 percent of the 400 students whose parents were not school staff members would arrive by bus. 

 

Kamal Suliman, 8807 Skyron Place, Springfield, spoke in support of the application because it 

would create a minimal increase in traffic, encourage students to ride the bus, and provide much-

needed transportation improvements on Popes Head Road. 

 

Ifran Totonji, 10350 Elizabeth Street, Great Falls, also spoke in favor of the proposed school 

expansion because it would adequately address the safety issues on Popes Head Road; maximize 

buffers, open space, and preservation of trees; be compatible with the residential appearance of 

the community; implement low impact development techniques; and create jobs. 

 

Douglas H. Macpherson, 5405 Dranes Tavern Drive, Fairfax, expressed concerns that the 

property was not big enough to accommodate the entire student population and that student 

drivers would park on his street and walk to the school due to insufficient on-site parking.  He 

also said the hazardous traffic conditions on Popes Head Road would worsen. 

 

John Ziu, 11400 Octagon Court, Fairfax, asked if the applicant would identify the locations of 

the corporations listed under 1(b) in the affidavit.  Vice Chairman Alcorn said that Ms. Strobel 

would address this issue during her rebuttal statement. 

 

Continuing his remarks, Mr. Ziu stated that there were significant irregularities in the affidavit 

that the County must address.  He distributed the Articles of Incorporation of Islamic Saudi 

Academy of Washington and expressed concern that they would allow the applicant to redefine 

its mission to become something other than a private school of general education that would not 

be allowed in the R-C District.  Mr. Ziu recommended one of the following options: a change in 

the Articles, denial of the application, or inclusion of a proviso stating that the school was 

prohibited from changing its mission.  He also recommended that the Planning Commission 

defer the application and reschedule the public hearing in order to allow the County sufficient 

time to verify the identity of the corporations listed on the affidavit.  (Copies of Mr. Ziu's 

documents are in the date file.) 

 

Darci Walters, 5518 Ashleigh Road, Fairfax, read an excerpt from a Newsweek article dated 

February 2, 2009, titled "Recruited for Jihad? About 20 young Somali-American men in 

Minneapolis have recently vanished."  She said she objected to the application due to concerns  



 

16 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

about the beliefs and actions of the school administrators and students.  (A copy of the article is 

in the date file.) 

 

Robert Meade, 6824 Lamp Post Lane, Alexandria, spoke in support of the school because it was 

well run and the students were disciplined.  He pointed out that the applicant had invested $50 

million in improvements to the property.  

 

Captain Mohammad Waseem, 3412 Logstone Drive, Triangle, also spoke in support of the 

school, noting that he and other soldiers in the U.S. Army were taught how to read, write, and 

speak basic Arabic by Dr. Ibrahim Sakaji at the Alexandria campus. 

 

Commissioner Murphy noted that included in the school booklet distributed by Ms. Strobel was 

a copy of a Certificate of Appreciation presented to Dr. Sakaji from Major U.S. General Michael 

McDermont.  He also commended Captain Waseem for his leadership and service to the United 

States.  (A copy of the booklet is in the date file.) 

 

Responding to a question from Commissioner Hart, Beth Teare, Assistant County Attorney, said 

that the County Attorney's Office had thoroughly investigated Mr. Ziu's concerns about the 

affidavit and that there were no legitimate legal issues.  

 

Oksana Elariny, 612 Rivercrest Drive, McLean, said she supported the proposal because it would 

improve the safety of Popes Head Road and increase property values in the area.  

 

Reham Nasr, 1293 Thompson Run Court, Vienna, noted that she was a former student at the 

school.  She commented on the school's positive educational environment, community support 

efforts, and effective transportation system. 

 

Patrick Markham, 1926 E Bayview Boulevard, Norfolk, expressed opposition to the teachings at 

the school. 

 

The following individuals spoke in favor of the school.  They refuted negative remarks made by 

previous speakers. 

 

Max Najib, 3705 S George Mason Drive, Unit 2114S, Falls Church 

Shaker Elsayed, Shaikh at the Dar Al-Hijrah Islamic Center, 3159 Row Street, Falls Church 

Ahmed Bencheikh, 8398 Westpointe Drive, Fairfax Station 

Khaled Al-Jaradat, 6904 Gilbert Street, Springfield  

Reem Al-Hussain, 8869 Olive Mae Circle, Fairfax 

Fadwa Al-Mousa, 8474 Silverdale Road, Lorton 

Aly R. Abuzaakouk, 9329 Raintree Road, Burke 

Sami Boudriga, 12825 Poplar Creek Drive, Fairfax 

Asem Muaket, 1201 Collingwood Road, Alexandria  

Ghazi Joharji, 6998 Admetus Court, Alexandria  

 

Jerry O’Dell, 3920 Bradwater Street, Fairfax, said he was opposed to the application. 



 

17 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

Jim Smithers, 5310 Hexagon Place, Fairfax, noted that he had petitioned approximately 80 

percent of the residents along Popes Head Road and that 90 percent of them had signed the 

petition in opposition to the proposed school expansion due to traffic and safety concerns.  

 

Dr. Ibrahim Sakaji, instructor at the Islamic Saudi Academy, 8333 Richmond Highway, 

Alexandria, said he supported the application. 

 

Tess Seiger, address unknown, commented that the public hearing had been poorly advertised 

and some of the Commissioners had responded inappropriately to public testimony.  

 

Murjan Hammad, 5005 Columbia Road, Annandale, addressed Dr. Keramidas' remarks that the 

soccer field had caused erosion and pollution in the nearby stream and said that the community 

was probably the more likely source of this problem.   

 

Iman Bashrawi, 1680 Chain Bridge Road, McLean, spoke in support of the school. 

 

There being no more speakers, Vice Chairman Alcorn called for a rebuttal statement from Ms. 

Strobel. 

 

Addressing concern about the school's curriculum, Ms. Strobel explained that included in the 

packet of the applicant's presentation materials was a copy of a letter dated October 5, 2008 to 

Abdulrahman Alghofaili, the school's director, indicating that the textbooks had been reviewed 

by independent college professors who had found no evidence of inflammatory material or 

encouraging students to exhibit intolerance or violence against others.  She pointed out that the 

applicant had reached out to the community to inform them of the proposal and to address their 

concerns.  She stated that a thorough soil analysis had shown that marine clay soils did not exist 

on the site, the soils were appropriate for the proposed building, and there would be no adverse 

impact on the water table.  Ms. Strobel said the applicant had obtained all approvals available to 

date from the Health Department but could not pursue further approvals until the final site plan 

process.  Addressing Mr. Ziu's concern about the legitimacy of the affidavit, she explained that 

she had confirmed with the County Attorney's Office that all information had been correctly 

disclosed in the affidavit.  She asked that Robin Antonucci, with M. J. Wells & Associates, LLC, 

address the transportation concerns.  (A copy of the packet is in the date file.) 

 

Ms. Antonucci noted that due to significant citizen opposition to a VDOT project for 

improvements to Popes Head Road, it had not been pursued.  She said the designation of Popes 

Head Road as a Virginia Byway would not affect land use controls or preclude or limit any 

roadway improvements.  She explained that the applicant had conducted a traffic study in 

accordance with VDOT Chapter 527 regulations, which had been reviewed by FCDOT and 

VDOT, and pointed out that the transportation mitigation efforts reflected in the development 

conditions had been predicated on an enrollment of 700 students.  She described the proposed 

lane improvements on Popes Head Road.   

 

In response to questions from Commissioner Lawrence, Ms. Antonucci stated that the traffic 

analysis had been performed according to a set of mathematical models and approaches available  



 

18 

SE 2008-SP-025 – ISLAMIC SAUDI ACADEMY                                                March 18, 2009 

 

 

to the public.  She noted that FCDOT and VDOT had both determined the scope of the project 

and the findings had been posted on VDOT's Web site. 

 

Commissioner Murphy suggested that staff draft additional development conditions to address 

the transportation issues.  He also suggested that staff consider the possibility of installing 

Winkomatic school zone flashers on Popes Head Road in coordination with VDOT and examine 

stacking on the left turn lane from Route 123 onto Popes Head Road.  Commissioner Murphy 

requested that Mr. Almquist forward to the Commissioners e-mail correspondence between  

Mr. Almquist and Mr. Beveridge concerning his transportation concerns.  (A copy of the e-mail 

correspondence is in the date file.)  

 

Commissioner Flanagan requested that staff submit in writing the definition of "oriented to an 

arterial." 

 

Commissioner Hall pointed out that the Commission would evaluate the application on land use 

issues only. 

 

Vice Chairman Alcorn aligned himself with the comment of Commissioner Hall.  He 

commended Commissioner Murphy for his work on this application. 

 

There were no further comments or questions from the Commission and staff had no closing 

remarks; therefore, Vice Chairman Alcorn closed the public hearing and recognized 

Commissioner Murphy for action on this case.  (A verbatim excerpt is in the date file.) 

 

// 

 

Commissioner Murphy MOVED THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION DEFER THE 

DECISION ONLY FOR SE 2008-SP-025 TO A DATE CERTAIN OF APRIL 30, 2009, WITH 

THE RECORD REMAINING OPEN FOR COMMENT.   

 

Commissioners de la Fe, Flanagan, and Sargeant seconded the motion which carried 

unanimously with Commissioner Harsel absent from the meeting. 

 

// 

 

Chairman Murphy resumed the Chair and adjourned the meeting. 

 

// 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 2:47 a.m. 

Peter F. Murphy, Jr., Chairman 

Suzanne F. Harsel, Secretary 

 

 

 



 

19 

CLOSING                                                                                                                 March 18, 2009 

 

 

Audio and video recordings of this meeting are available at the Planning Commission Office, 

12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 330, Fairfax, Virginia 22035. 

 

 

Minutes by:  Kara A. DeArrastia 

 

Approved on:  July 29, 2010    

 

 

 

       

Linda B. Rodeffer, Clerk to the 

       Fairfax County Planning Commission 


